# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 72,492

WESTLAND SKATING CENTER, INC. and HIALEAH SKATING CENTER, LTD., by and through WAYNE D. LIPPMAN and STEWART L. CAUFF, as General Partners,

Plaintiffs, Petitioners,

v.

GUS MACHADO BUICK, INC. and MORRISON ASSURANCE CO.,

Defendants, Respondents.

JUN 20 1998

CLERK, SUETY AND COURT

PLAINTIFFS', PETITIONERS' BRIEF ON DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION OF THE SUPREME COURT

Alan T. Dimond, Esq.
Steven M. Goldsmith, Esq.
GREENBERG, TRAURIG, HOFFMAN,
LIPOFF, ROSEN & QUENTEL, P.A.
Attorneys for Plaintiffs/Petitioners
1221 Brickell Avenue
Miami, Florida 33131
(305) 579-0500

##

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 29, 1981, Plaintiff, Petitioner, Westland Skating Center, Inc. ("Westland"). filed its Complaint against Seipp Buick, Inc. ("Seipp Buick"), predecessor-in-interest of Defendant, Respondent, Gus Machado Buick, Inc. ("Machado Buick"). Westland stated counts for nuisance, negligence, intentional interference with natural easement and trespass, and sought both damages and injunctive relief. It alleged that: (a) historically and prior to June, 1981, surface rainwater flowed from property which it leased in Hialeah, Florida, downhill to contiguous property owned by Seipp Buick; (b) in June, 1981, Seipp Buick constructed a wall intended to function as a dam; (c) the wall ran the entire length of Westland's common boundary line; (d) on August 15 and September 25, 1981, the wall acted as a dam to the natural flow of surface rainwaters; and (e) as a result, floods occurred that damaged the Westland Skating Building. 2/

On August 1, 1983, Plaintiffs, Petitioners moved for a Partial Summary Judgment declaring that a lower elevation property owner is liable for damages if he obstructs the natural flow of surface water from an upper elevation adjoining property which results in flooding of the upper elevation property. On December 15, 1983, the trial court granted Partial Summary Judgment on the legal standard and specifically noted that it was not resolving any issue of fact, nor making any determination regarding liability.

Plaintiffs, Petitioners will refer to Plaintiff, Petitioner Westland, as "Westland" and will refer to the building which it leased (and operated) as the "Westland Skating Center".

On June 16, 1982, Westland filed an Amended Complaint, wherein Plaintiff, Petitioner, Hialeah Skating Center, Ltd. ("Hialeah Skating"), acting through its general partners, joined the action as party-plaintiff. Hialeah Skating built the Westland Skating Center and leased it to Westland. For convenience, Plaintiffs, Petitioners will refer to both as Westland.

Plaintiffs, Petitioners also named as Defendant, Respondent, Morrison Assurance Co. ("Morrison Assurance"), the liability insurance carrier for Seipp Buick. For convenience, Appellees will refer to both Defendants, Respondents as "Machado Buick".

On September 18, 1985, the parties began a seven (7) day jury trial. The jury: (a) returned a verdict for Westland and Hialeah Skating on Counts I, II and III for nuisance, negligence and intentional interference with a natural easement, respectively; (b) assessed the damages sustained by Westland at \$800,000; (c) found that Hialeah Skating was ten percent negligent, while Machado Buick was ninety percent negligent; and (d) assessed Hialeah Skating's damages at \$324,000. On October 9, 1985, the trial court entered separate Final Judgments for Westland and Hialeah Skating.

On May 19, 1987, the Third District Court of Appeal ("Third District") reversed and remanded the Judgment of the Circuit Court. (Appendix at 1) (hereinafter "App. at \_"). The Third District held that the Circuit Court incorrectly granted Westland's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. (App. at 1) Plaintiffs, Petitioners timely moved for rehearing and rehearing en banc.

On April 26, 1988, after over eleven months, the Third District denied the Motions for Rehearing and Rehearing En Banc, the latter by a six to three vote. Judge Wilkie Ferguson authored a nine page opinion dissenting from the Order denying rehearing en banc in which Judges Schwartz and Pearson concurred (App. at 4).

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Westland leased a building and skating center located at 1545 West 46th Street in the City of Hialeah, Florida which was constructed by its landlord, Hialeah Skating. The Westland property is contiguous to property owned by Machado Buick, with the rear of the Westland Skating Center building approximately ten (10) feet from the property line of Machado Buick. Historically, because the Westland property had a higher elevation than the Machado Buick property, rainfall that accumulated moved from the Westland property downhill to the Machado Buick property.

In October 1970, Machado Buick's predecessor-in-interest constructed its dealership and opened for business. Because it remained at a lower elevation than the

Westland property, rainwater continued to run off and flow from the property where the Westland Skating Center later would be constructed down to the Machado Buick property. In April 1979 and 1980, before the Westland Skating Center was constructed, floods occurred and Seipp Buick suffered water damage to its vehicles on the lower elevation back lot.

In 1979, Hialeah Skating employed a licensed architect to design the Westland Skating Center. He designed the Westland Skating Center to comply with the South Florida Building Code ("Code"), which had been adopted by the City of Hialeah. The design considered and met the Code's specific alternatives and mathematical formulas required for the disposal of rainwater. The actual construction of the Westland Skating Center also complied with the Code.

After the Westland Skating Center and Seipp Buick dealership were constructed, the Westland property remained higher than the Machado Buick property and the surface flow of rainwater remained the same as before construction. Seipp Buick constructed a wall approximately 8 feet high and 32 inches deep specifically designed and intended to stop the flow of water from the Westland property down onto the Seipp Buick rear lot.

On August 15, 1981, the wall acted as a dam to the natural flow of water and caused rainwater runoff that hit the wall to return to flood the Westland Skating Center. On September 25, 1981, Westland suffered a second flood despite its emergency precautions.

After the floods, Hialeah Skating and Westland retained two experts to render an opinion cause of the August and September 1981 floods. Both experts advised and later testified that the wall constructed by Machado Buick acted as a dam to the flow of water in a heavy rainfall and caused the flooding of the Westland Skating Center. Subsequently, Westland filed suit to recover the damages it sustained because of the floods.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The decision of the Third District in this case expressly and directly conflicts with the rule of law announced by the Fifth District in Seminole County v. Mertz, 415 So.2d 1286 (Fla. 5th DCA), cert. denied, 424 So.2d 763 (Fla. 1982). The Third District stated that "Florida follows the civil law rule regarding surface water" (emphasis added) (App. at 2), so that a higher elevation land owner may not build on his land if he increases or diverts the natural flow of water onto the lower land without losing the existing servitude for the flow of surface water. It expressly rejected the "reasonable use" rule embraced by the Fifth District in Seminole County as the controlling law in Florida. In that case, the Fifth District stated that "[c]ourts of Florida have applied, in an almost unbroken line of decisions, practically all of the elements of the modified civil law rule of surface water" (emphasis added). Seminole County, supra, 415 So.2d at 128. Under the "modified civil law", which also is known as the "reasonable - use" rule (App. at 9), courts reject the strict application of the civil law rule to permit a higher elevation land owner to improve and develop his land, particularly in urban areas, without losing the servitude for the flow of surfact water if he acts reasonably -- even if the flow of surface water is diverted or increased. Accordingly, the decision of the Third District irreconcilably conflicts with the rule of law announced as controlling by the Fifth District.

Moreover, the Third District in this case applies the "civil law rule" to produce a different result from that reached by the Second District in Pearce v. Pearce, 97 So.2d 329 (Fla. 2d DCA 1957), which involves substantially the same controlling facts. The irreconcilable conflict between the decisions of the Second and Third Districts is perhaps best explained by confusion as to the governing rule in Florida. The Second and Third Districts could not have arrived at such conflicting decisions if the Florida appellate courts were clear as to the controlling rule of law regarding surface water and its application.

The Supreme Court should exercise its discretion and entertain this case on the merits because it is of exceptional importance in all jurisdictions in Florida and is necessary to cure the confusion engendered by these blatantly conflicting decisions — the law controlling in Florida must be the same in all Florida's jurisdictions. Although the Florida legislature has mandated that jurisdictions adopt a Building Code to govern building construction, the Supreme Court never has addressed the precise issue before the Third District — whether construction in strict conformity with the applicable Building Code constitutes a reasonable use of the property which prevails over any inconsistent "common" law regarding the use of property. Because of Florida's enormous growth and substantial construction in compliance with now mandated building codes, this case is of exceptional importance and should be heard by the Supreme Court.

#### **ARGUMENT**

- I. THE SUPREME COURT HAS JURISDICTION TO REVIEW THE DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT BECAUSE IT EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS OF OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEALS ON THE SAME QUESTION OF LAW.
  - A. The Decision Of The Third District Expressly And Directly Conflicts With A Rule Of Law Announced By The Fifth District Court Of Appeal.

Florida appellate courts have applied two rules regarding the disposal of "surface water" which are in irreconcilable conflict. First, under the so-called "civil-law rule", a lower elevation landowner owes a servitude to an adjacent higher elevation landowner to accept the discharge of surface waters naturally flowing. See, e.g., Libby McNeil & Libby v. Roberts, 110 So.2d 82, 84-85 (Fla. 2d DCA 1959). However, under this rule, the higher elevation landowner may not increase or divert the natural flow of water on to the lower land without losing the servitude. See, e.g., New Homes of Pensacola, Inc. v. Mayne, 169 So.2d 345, 347 (Fla. 1st DCA 1964).

Second, under the so-called "reasonable-use doctrine", which modifies the civil law rule, a landowner is privileged to improve his land by constructing a building without liability for an altered water flow if the improvement is "reasonable". See Seminole County v. Mertz, 415 So.2d 1286 (Fla. 5th DCA), cert. denied, 424 So.2d 763 (Fla. 1982). Under increasing development and urbanization, modern Florida courts have adopted this so called "reasonable-use" doctrine. See Seminole County, supra. Under this modified civil law rule the higher elevation landowner does not lose its right to the servitude unless the improvement is unreasonable. The lower elevation landowner may not interfere with that servitude by blocking the flow of water. The trial court applied the "reasonable-use" doctrine to the facts and gave jury instructions in accord with that doctrine.

In reversing and remanding, the Third District states that "Florida follows the civil law rule regarding surface water" (emphasis added) (App. at 2). In direct and express conflict with the "reasonable-use" doctrine embraced by the Fifth District in Seminole County as discussed above, the Third District rejects the "reasonable use" rule as the controlling law in Florida. Strictly applying the "civil law" rule without regard to the facts, the Third District holds that Westland could not have constructed its building on its higher elevation property, even in strict compliance with applicable law (the Building Code), without losing its servitude for the flow of surface water. Therefore, the Third District holds that Machado Buick was entitled to build its dam.

In irreconcilable conflict, the Fifth District has stated that "[c]ourts of Florida have applied, in an almost unbroken line of decisions, practically all of the elements of the modified civil law rule of surface water."

See Seminole County, supra

Citing Brumley v. Dorner, supra, the Fifth District further disagreed with the Third District by noting that the modified civil law rule differs from the strict civil law rule for an action which merely increases the accumulation of water in the same flow, but does not divert such flow. Mertz, supra, 415 So.2d at 1289.

(citing F. Maloney, S. Plager, R. Ausness, B. Canter, Florida Water Law 617 (1980) ("courts of Florida have in an almost unbroken line of decisions adopted practically all of the elements of the more liberal and logical modifications of the civil law rule") ("Florida Water Law"). Under the "modified civil law" or "reasonable-use" rule (App. at 9), courts reject the strict application of the civil law rule to permit the improvement and development of land, particularly in urban areas. See F. Maloney, S. Plager and Fletcher Baldwin, Water Law Administration: The Florida Experience § 72 (1968) ("Water Law Administration"). Thus, the Third and Fifth Districts apply conflicting rules of law to cases regarding the disposal of surface water and reach conflicting results. See also Bray v. City of Winter Haven, 40 So.2d 459, 461 (Fla. 1949) (upper elevation landowner may improve property drainage by collecting surface water and discharging into common stream even though volume of discharge may increase); Edason v. Denison, 142 Fla. 101, 194 So. 342 (Fla. 1940) (same).

The need to modify the civil law rule acknowledged by the Fifth District in Mertz was first noted by the Supreme Court almost seventy years ago in Brumley, supra. Although the Supreme Court noted the existence of both the civil law and old common enemy rules 4/, it declined to expressly adopt either. However, it stated that both have "been considerably modified by the courts, and it seems to be almost the unanimous verdict of the courts that each case must stand upon its own facts." Id. at 913-14 (emphasis added). Consequently, as long ago as 1919, the Supreme Court noted the need to modify the civil law rule of surface water as later expressed by the Fifth District in Mertz, but rejected here by the Third District. (App. at 2-3). Accordingly, the decision of the Third District directly and expressly conflicts with this pronouncement of the Supreme Court followed by the 1982 decision of the Fifth District.

Under the so-called "common enemy rule", a lower elevation landowner holds an absolute privilege to protect himself from surface water by any means without liability for the harm that he may inflict on other landowners. See Water Law Administration, supra, § 72.

# II. THE SUPREME COURT SHOULD EXERCISE ITS DISCRETION AND ENTERTAIN THE CASE ON THE MERITS BECAUSE IT IS OF EXCEPTIONAL IMPORTANCE IN FLORIDA.

The Supreme Court should exercise its discretion and entertain the case on the merits because it is of exceptional importance in all jurisdictions in Florida and to cure the confusion engendered by these blatantly conflicting decisions. The Supreme Court never has directly stated whether Florida courts should apply the civil law or modified civil law (reasonable-use) rule governing the disposal of surface water in Florida. It is not clear, therefore, what is the controlling common law in Florida. As a consequence, several district courts of appeal have announced that different rules are controlling in Florida or reached different decisions on substantially the same controlling facts. The Supreme Court should exercise its discretion to resolve this conflict — the law must be the same in all Florida's jurisdictions.

The Supreme Court also should entertain this case because of the substantial impact that the Third District's decision will have on construction in all jurisdictions in Florida that have complied with Florida's legislative mandate and adopted a Building Code. The Florida legislature has mandated that all local governments and state agencies with building construction regulation responsibilities adopt a building code which covers all types of construction. See § 553.73, Fla. Stat. (1987). The Supreme Court has not addressed the precise issue before Third District — whether construction in strict conformity with the applicable Building Code constitutes a reasonable use of the property which prevails over any inconsistent "common" or non-statutory law regarding the reasonable use of property or the disposal of surface water. Cf. Ripley v. Ewell, 61 So.2d 420, 421 (Fla. 1952).

As noted in dissent by Judge Ferguson, the modified civil law or reasonable-use rule recognizes the privilege of the landowner to improve his land without liability for altered waterflow provided that his alteration is reasonable. (App. at 8).

Here a higher elevation landowner built in strict compliance with law (the building code), was flooded out of business by its neighbor's intentional act and yet was denied a jury verdict because the outdated "civil rule" was applied. In the Fifth District, the jury verdict would have been affirmed based on the "reasonable use" rule.

Because of Florida's enormous growth and substantial construction in compliance with now mandated building codes this case is of exceptional importance and should be heard by the Supreme Court.

#### CONCLUSION

Accordingly, Westland and Hialeah Skating, respectfully submit that the Supreme Court has certiorari jurisdiction because of an express and direct conflict and should exercise its discretion and entertain the case on the merits.