IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA
	CASE NO.: 72-492
WESTLAND	SKATING CENTER, INC. and HIALEAH SKATING CENTER, L by and through WAYNE D. LIPPMAN and STEWART L. CAUFF, as General Pareners,
	Plaintiffs/Petitioners, 11 5 1988
	GUS MACHADO BUICK, INC. and MORRISON ASSURANCE CO.,
	Defendants/Respondents.
	DEFENDANTS/RESPONDENTS BRIEF ON
	DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION OF THE SUPREME COURT

Briefok per SJW

Pamela Beckham, Esq. CAREY, DWYER, COLE, ECKHART, MASON & SPRING, P.A. 2180 Southwest 12th Avenue Miami, Florida 33129 (305) 856-9920

CAREY DWYER COLE ECKHART MASON & SPRING, P.A. P. O. BOX 450888, MIAMI, FLORIDA 33245-0888 • TELEPHONE (305) 856-9920

TABLES OF CONTENTS

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The properties known as Gus Machado Buick, Inc. (formerly Seipp Buick) and Westland Skating Center, Inc. were prior to any real estate development, pasture land. In 1969, Mr. Seipp built a car lot on his property. From 1970 to 1979, despite heavy rainfalls, Seipp Buick, Inc., experienced no flooding. The northern portion of the Seipp property was originally below the property to the east of it, and below the street level. The overall level of the property was originally raised above the natural terrain when the car lot was built. From time to time the back lot of the Seipp property had fill added to it, as was economically feasible, to bring the area up to the level of the front 450 feet.

In 1979, the property east of Seipp Buick, which was owned by Mr. Maurice Revitz, was leased to Hialeah Skating Center; the latter then leased the building on the property to Westland. At some point, Mr. Revitz had raised the western and eastern portions of his property so that the water would drain toward the center.

On or about April of 1979, Seipp experienced its first flood; the damages sustained totaled \$33,000.00. Shortly after this, Mr. Seipp's attorney met with Mr. Revitz, his attorney, and others to discuss the erection of a wall to halt the water problem. Mr. Revitz was in favor of said construction and agreed to pay half of all costs, as well as to arrange to have contractors come out to the property.

Mr. Revitz did not contact Mr. Seipp again, so Mr. Seipp's attorney advised him to proceed with the construction of the wall. Construction was finished in July, 1981; the wall was 2 1/2 to 3 feet below the ground, and rose to a full height of 8 feet; it met all the requirements of the South Florida Building Code.

On September 25, 1981, there was a heavy rainfall. Employees from Westland began sledging holes in the wall to drain the water that was accumulating on the Westland property. After this incident, Mr. Seipp added some fill and drainage pits. On March 3, 1982, Seipp Buick was sold to Gus Machado, who assumed all liabilities.

On September 29, 1981, Westland filed an action for damages and a mandatory injunction against Seipp. Gus Machado was substituted for Seipp.

An order granting partial Summary Judgment with respect to the law governing the case was entered on December 15, 1983; on September 18, 1985, the parties began a seven day jury trial. The jury returned a verdict in favor of Westland and against Gus Machado in the amount of \$800,000. It also returned a verdict in favor of Hialeah Skating and against Gus Machado in the amount of \$324,000.

On May 19, 1987, the Third District Court of Appeal reversed and remanded the judgment of the Circuit Court. On April 26, 1981, the Third District Court denied Motions for Rehearing and Rehearing En Bang.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Contrary to the assertions made in the initial brief, the instant case does not conflict with <u>Seminole County v. Mertz</u>, 415 So.2d 1286 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982) or <u>Pearce v. Pearce</u>, 97 So.2d 329

CAREY DWYER COLE ECKHART MASON & SPRING, P. A. P. O. BOX 450888, MIAMI, FLORIDA 33245-0888 + TELEPHONE (305) 856-9920 (Fla. 2d DCA 1957). All three decisions are consistent, all apply a modified civil law rule, and none have adopted the reasonable use doctrine. Petitioner's statement that the reasonable use doctrine modifies the civil law rule is blatantly inaccurate. Further, the reasonable use doctrine does not modify the civil law rule, but is a rule of construction in its own right.

The Third District Court of Appeal opinion acknowledges the distinction between both the modified civil law rule and the reasonable use doctrine, and the opinion correctly states that the civil law rule extends only to surface waters arising from natural causes, and that these waters cannot be increased or made more burdensome by the acts or industry of men. This position is entirely consistent with the law in Florida today. The Third District Court of Appeal acknowledges that other jurisdictions applying the reasonable use rule, must do an analysis of the benefit of use to the upper elevation landowner against the burden imposed upon the solvent landowner.

In the instant case, petitioners assertions are entirely incorrect, and there is absolutely no basis for this court to accept review of this cause.

ARGUMENT

I. THE SUPREME COURT DOES NOT HAVE JURISDICTION TO REVIEW THE DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT BECAUSE IT DOES NOT EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICT WITH DECISIONS OF OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEALS ON THE SAME QUESTION OF LAW.

The discretionary jurisdiction of the Florida Supreme Court may be invoked by a District Court of Appeals decision that <u>expressly</u> and <u>directly</u> conflicts with a decision of another such

CAREY DWYER COLE ECKHART MASON & SPRING, P.A.

A. The decision of the Third District does not expressly and directly conflict with a rule of law announced by the Fifth District Court of Appeals

In its brief, Westland, The Plaintiff/Petitioner (hereinafter referred to solely as "petitioner") stated there are two rules regarding the disposal of surface water. The first is the "civil law rule"; the second, the "reasonable use doctrine." In explaining this latter doctrine, petitioner equated it with the modified civil law rule; that is, petitioner claims it is one and the same rule. This is an erroneous statement of the law.

In its extreme, the civil law rule acknowledges that the owner of the land on the higher elevation has an easement over the lower elevation land for all water that naturally flows from the higher land. As stated in <u>Libby McNeil & McNeil v. Roberts</u>, 110 So.2d 82 (Fla. 2d DCA 1959) (citing <u>Boynton v. Longley</u>, 19 Nev. 69, 6 P. 437, 438): "water seeks its level and naturally flows from a higher to a lower <u>plane</u>; hence the lower surface, or inferior heritage, is doomed by nature to bear a servitude to the higher surface, or superior heritage, in this: that it must receive the water that naturally falls on and flows from the latter."

Application of this rule in this form has been deemed too strict: "The need to accommodate the strictness of the civil law with the practical necessity for improvement and development of lands has led most jurisdictions following the civil law rule to modify it in various ways." F. Maloney, S. Plager, F. Baldwin, <u>Water Law and Administration</u>: <u>The Florida Experience</u> 202 (1968). <u>See also</u>: Annotation, <u>Modern States of Rules Governing</u> Interference with Drainage of Surface Waters, 93 ALR 3d 1212 (1979). Thus, many jurisdictions have retained the basic elements of the civil law rule but have "softened" it a bit.

One such jurisdiction is the Colorado Supreme Court; in <u>Hankins v. Borland</u>, 431 P.2d 1007 (Colo. 1969), the Court termed its rule a <u>modified civil law</u> rule and summarized it as follows: natural drainage conditions may be altered by an upper proprietor, provided that the water is not sent down in matter or quantity to do more harm than formerly. In <u>New Homes of</u> <u>Pensacola, Inc. v. Mayne</u>, 169 So.2d 345 (Fla. 1st DCA 1964), the First District Court of Florida expressed an almost identical modified version of the civil law rule:

> The servitude that the owner of the higher adjoining land has on the lower land for the discharge of surface water naturally flowing into the lower land from the dominant estate ordinarily extends only to surface water arising from a natural course and cannot be increased or made more burdensome by the acts or industry of man. No person has the right to gather, by drainage ditches, dams, or surface waters other means, that would naturally flow in one direction and divert them from their natural course, and cast them onto lands of a lower owner to his injury. Id. at 347.

Florida Courts have uniformly adhered to the more prevalent, or moderate version of the civil law rule. Given the great amount of development and urbanization taking place in Florida, it is only logical that the civil law rule be applied liberally.

Thus, petitioner's statement that the reasonable use doctrine modifies the civil law rule is blantantly incorrect. Petitioner states that "under this modified civil law rule the higher elevation landowner does not lose its rights to the servitude unless the improvement is unreasonable." (Petitioner's Brief, p. 4) As previously pointed out, the modified civil law court, or of the Supreme Court, on the same point of law. Florida Constitution Article V \$3(b)(3); Florida Rules Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv). The conflict can not be inherent or implied but must be obvious and evident. In <u>Trustees of the Internal Improvement Fund v. Lobean</u>, 127 So.2d 98 (Fla. 1961), the Supreme Court stated that in order to assert conflict jurisdiction, "antagonistic principles of law must have been announced in a case or cases by the lower court based on practically <u>the same facts</u>. The conflict must be <u>obvious</u> and <u>patently reflected</u> in the decisions relied on." (emphasis added).

This requirement was further reiterated in <u>Dodi Publishing</u> <u>Co. v. Editorial American, S.A.</u>, 385 So.2d 1369 (Fla. 1980), where the Court stated that, "the issue to be decided from a petition for conflict review is whether there is express and direct conflict in the decision of the District Court before us for review, not whether there is conflict in a prior written opinion which is now cited for authority." <u>See also</u>: <u>Department</u> <u>of Health and Rehabilitative Services, Inc.</u>, 498 So.2d 888 (Fla. 1986).

In <u>Niemann v. Niemann</u>, 312 So.2d 733 (Fla. 1975), the Court stated that in determining whether to grant conflict jurisdiction, the Supreme Court must look at the <u>decisions</u>, rather than a conflict in the opinions. <u>See also</u>: <u>Gibson v.</u> <u>Maloney</u>, 231 So.2d 823 (Fla. 1970). Following this reasoning, a dissenting or concurring opinion can not support jurisdiction because they are not the <u>decisions</u> of the District Court. <u>Jenkins</u> <u>v. State</u>, 385 So.2d 1356 (Fla. 1980) rule is a liberalized extension of the strict civil law rule; it is a property concept having little to do with reasonableness notions.

Furthermore, the reasonable use doctrine does <u>not</u> modify the civil law rule, but is a rule in its own right. It simply states that a landonwer is privileged to improve his land so long as the improvement is "reasonable." Whether or not it is reasonable is regarded as a question of law and fact for the jury. According to Annot., 93 ALR 3d, at 1212, supra:

> The reasonable use rule was apparently first adopted in New Hampshire. Noting the inconvenience which would arise from adopting extreme rules that a landowner has either no right of drainage or an absolute right, the court in Bassett v. Salisbury Manufacturing Co., (1862) 63 NH 569 (which was apparently primarily concerned with percolating water), said that the sole ground of qualification of the landowner's right of drainage was the similar rights of others, the extent of the qualificaton being determined under the rule of reasonable use, and the right of each landowner being similar and his enjoyment action of the other dependent upon the landowner, so that the rights must be valueless unless exercised with reference to each other.

In the case <u>sub judice</u>, the Third District Court's opinion acknowledges the distinctions between these two rules. Judge Nesbitt correctly points out that the civil law rule extends only to surface waters arising from natural causes, and that these waters can not be increased or made more burdensome by the acts or industry of man. Footnote one of the opinion, however indicates that in jurisdictions applying the reasonable use rule, the benefit of use to the upper elevation landowner must be weighed against the burden imposed upon the servient land (See opinion). As petitioner points out in its brief, the Third

-7-

CAREY DWYER COLE ECKHART MASON & SPRING, P.A.

District Court went on to apply the civil law rule, albeit a modified version of it, to the facts of this case.

An analysis of Seminole County v. Mertz, 415 So.2d 1286 (Fla. 5th DCA), review denied, 424 So.2d 763 (Fla. 1982), indicates that the Fifth District also adhered to the civil law rule, although a modified version of it. First, the Court noted that other Florida Courts have applied in an almost unbroken line of decisions, practically all the elements of the modified civil law rule of surface water. It went on to describe this rule as follows: The upper owner may improve and enhance the natural drainage of his land as long as he acts reasonably and does not divert the flow, and that the lower owner is subject to an easement for such flow as the upper owner is allowed to cast upon him. Id. at 1289. This is classic civil law language; the reasonable use rule would not have mentioned easements, but rather, would have involved an analysis of the benefit - burden on each party. The Court in Mertz thereafter applied the civil law rule to the facts of the case.

In essence, there is no obvious or direct conflict between the Third and Fifth District; both of these jurisdictions applied the civil law rule, albeit a modified version of it, and thus are clearly and without question in harmony on the issue of interference with the flow of surface waters.

-8-

CAREY DWYER COLE ECKHART MASON & SPRING, P. A. P. O. BOX 450888, MIAMI, FLORIDA 33245-0888 • TELEPHONE (305) 856-9920

B. The decision of the Third District does not expressly and directly conflict with a rule of law announced by the Second District Court of Appeals

The Second District in <u>Pearce v. Pearce</u>, 97 so.2d 329 (Fla. 2d DCA 1957) is completely consistent with the Third District: both districts applied the civil law rule. In <u>Pearce</u>, the Plaintiff brought an action against the Defendant for closing certain natural drains and causing surface waters to be diverted and cast upon lands owned and leased by the plaintiff. The court ruled in favor of the upper owner and maintained that the upper owner has a right to improve his land, and the lower owner may not obstruct the natural flow of surface water; this basically is the essence of the civil law rule - that the higher elevation landowner has an easement over the lower elevation landowner. This is also the same rule applied by the Third District in the present case.

The difference in results does not indicate a conflict between the districts; rather, it indicates a difference in the underlying facts. In the Second District decision, the court affirmed the lower court's application of the civil law rule. In the present case, the Third District reversed and remanded the lower courts decision; that is, the court is saying that the lower court should have applied the civil law rule - not that either the plaintiff or defendant should win. Thus, it is an error to say that there is a conflict between the two districts because the plaintiff prevailed in the Second District but not in the Third.

Both of these districts articulated and applied the civil law rule to the facts of their respective cases. There is absolutely no conflict between them.

II. THE SUPREME COURT SHOULD NOT ENTERTAIN THE CASE ON THE MERITS BECAUSE THERE IS NO QUESTION OF EXCEPTIONAL IMPORTANCE

The Supreme Court should not deem this an issue of exceptional importance. The Third District did not regard it as sufficiently important to certify it as such. Furthermore, the law with regards to the flow of surface water is quite clear. There are two prevalent rules: The civil law rule and the reasonable use doctrine. Florida follows the former. Just about any source that one reads -- case law, treatises, legal encyclopedias -- will indicate that this is so. The several Florida district courts of appeal have consistently and harmoniously applied this rule. Thus, any confusion which might arise is the result of a misinterpretation of the law.

CONCLUSION

As a result of the foregoing arguments, the respondent respectfully maintains that the Supreme Court does not have certiorari jurisdiction; there is no express and direct conflict, nor is there a question of exceptional importance at issue.